STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Nov 02 2020

Appeal from Cherokee County

SC Court of Appeals

Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GLEN EDWARD WALDROP,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-000989

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred by not quashing the indictments in Appellant's case for lack of jurisdiction and improper venue, where Cherokee County police officers arrested the driver of a car in which Appellant was a passenger, in Spartanburg County, where the officers' jurisdiction was extended by statute for the limited purpose of arresting the driver?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 24, 2018, a Cherokee County grand jury indicted Appellant on two charges of trafficking methamphetamine. R. 243. He proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury on June 5, 2019.¹ Robin File represented Appellant; Matt Kendall appeared on behalf of the state. Appellant was found guilty as indicted on both counts. R. 237, ll. 1 – 6. Judge Cole sentenced Appellant to twenty-five years' incarceration on each offense. R. 241, ll. 10 – 22.

This appeal follows.

¹ Each day of trial was transcribed by a different court reporter. For reference in the Initial Brief of Appellant, the trial transcript from June 5, 2019 will be referred to as Transcript 1. The following day's transcript, dated June 6, 2019, will be referred to as Transcript 2.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court's factual conclusions as to the sufficiency of an indictment will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. Id. Accordingly, an appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings when the findings are supported by the evidence and not controlled by error of law. Id.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by not quashing the indictments in Appellant’s case for lack of jurisdiction and improper venue, where Cherokee County police officers arrested the driver of a car in which Appellant was a passenger, in Spartanburg County, where the officers’ jurisdiction was extended by statute for the limited purpose of arresting the driver.

Relevant facts

At the outset of trial, Appellant argued four suppression motions: statement made at traffic stop, search and seizure at traffic stop, written statement given to officers, and search and seizure of contraband at Gaffney hotel. R. 11, ll. 14 – 12, l. 22; R. 76. In response, the state elicited testimony from Ronnie Painter, an employee of the Cherokee County Sheriff’s Office. R. 14. On March 21, 2018, he began following a red truck after being advised that other officers had surveilled the truck. R. 14, l. 13 – 15, l. 23.

Painter testified that the driver of the truck failed to use a turn signal when it merged onto Interstate 85. R. 16, ll. 9 – 24. Painter then attempted to pull the truck over. Id. After approximately seven miles of travel on the interstate, the truck pulled over. R. 17, ll. 1 – 18. Painter immediately arrested the driver for failure to stop for blue lights. R. 18, ll. 11 – 17. Appellant was the passenger in the truck. R. 18, ll. 18 – 24.

Painter claims that he read Appellant his Miranda rights and then began questioning him. R. 19, ll. 8 – 13. When he asked Appellant if he had anything illegal on him, Appellant answered in the affirmative and advised Painter that he had drugs in his pocket. R. 19, l. 14 – 20, l. 1. Painter testified that he asked both the driver and Appellant for consent to search truck and that both provided it. R. 20, ll. 5 – 10. According to Painter, he located a tool bag on the back of

the truck that contained more drugs. R. 20, ll. 11 – 18. Both the driver and Appellant were arrested and taken to the Cherokee County detention center. R. 20, ll. 19 – 23.

Painter asked Appellant where he was coming from, and Appellant responded that he was the maintenance man at the Homestead Lodge hotel. R. 20, l. 24 – 21, l. 17. Another officer obtained a search warrant for Appellant’s room at the hotel, and drugs were allegedly located in the freezer. R. 21 l. 6 – 22, l. 25.

When Painter and another officer met with Appellant the day after the traffic stop, Painter claims he provided a pre-interrogation form to Appellant. R. 23, l. 7 – 26, l. 15. Painter contended that Appellant waived his rights prior to the interview. Id. Appellant’s statement, written by Painter, suggested that the drugs were at least in his possession. R. 50, ll. 9 – 17. Painter testified that Appellant sought to claim ownership of the drugs so the driver would not be charged. R. 28, ll. 6 – 12.

On cross-examination, Painter suggested that the warrant for Appellant’s hotel room was obtained “based on the totality of the circumstances from everything that - - from what we did up and to that point.” R. 35, ll. 1 – 14. Neither Painter nor David Owens, another officer with the Cherokee County Sheriff’s Office, observed who was coming in and out of the hotel. R. 46, ll. 10 – 20.

The driver of the truck, Kolarb Bounlort, requested a translator after being pulled over. R. 63, ll. 5 – 7. Bounlort did not speak English well. R. 62, ll. 4 – 18. None of the four witnesses who testified pre-trial indicated that a Cambodian translator was obtained for Bounlort as requested. Counsel for Appellant asked the trial judge to take judicial notice of Bounlort’s “command of the English language” since he had recently appeared before the court for a plea earlier in the week. R. 76, l. 24 – 78, l. 3.

After hearing testimony and reviewing exhibits in support of Appellant’s motions, the trial judge denied the suppression motions. R. 75, l. 20 – 76, l. 13; R. 83, l. 25 – 84, l. 6. Appellant also moved to dismiss the indictments based on lack of jurisdiction—the traffic stop occurred in Spartanburg County, not Cherokee County—but the trial judge denied that motion as well. R. 86, ll. 3 – 10. In opposition to the motion, the state cited S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-40 for the notion that “when police authorities of a county are in pursuit of an offender for a violation of a county ordinance or statute of this state committed within the county, the authorities may arrest the offender with or without a warrant at a place within the county or a place within the adjacent county.” R. 77, ll. 16 – 24. Focusing solely on the proximity of Cherokee and Spartanburg counties, the solicitor argued that officers “started a failure to stop here in Cherokee County.” After traveling into Spartanburg County, the state argued, “it was appropriate for them to effectuate that arrest at that time.” R. 77, l. 25 – 78, l. 6.

In denying the motion to dismiss based on lack of jurisdiction, the trial judge found that the state had not proven that Appellant possessed the drugs in Cherokee County but the evidence “tends to” indicate such. R. 86, ll. 3 – 16.

Discussion

This case serves as another example of unchecked power, imprudently wielded by law enforcement officers. None of the undercover law enforcement cars have video cameras. R. 29, ll. 16 – 18. The officers did not have body cameras at the time, either. R. 30, ll. 5 – 8. Notably, Painter has “never recorded an interview in the nineteen years [he has] been in law enforcement.” R. 37, ll. 8 – 11. At the time, however, Waldrop believed his interview was being recorded. R. 182, l. 19 – 183, l. 7. Without video camera evidence, a motion to suppress an alleged statement made car-side by Appellant, supposedly post-Miranda, will almost always fail.

Unfortunately in this matter, there was no contemporaneous, neutral record of the traffic stop or subsequent interview. Nonetheless, Appellant's convictions should be reversed for lack of jurisdiction.

“Subject matter jurisdiction is the power of a court to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong.” State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 100, 610 S.E.2d 494, 498 (2005); Pierce v. State, 338 S.C. 139, 150, 526 S.E.2d 222, 227 (2000); Dove v. Gold Kist, Inc., 314 S.C. 235, 237–38, 442 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1994); see also S.C. Const. art. V, § 11 (providing circuit court “shall be a general trial court with original jurisdiction in civil and criminal cases, except those cases in which exclusive jurisdiction shall be given to inferior courts, and shall have such appellate jurisdiction as provided by law”).

According to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-40(B):

When the police authorities of a county are in pursuit of an offender for a violation of a county ordinance or statute of this State committed within the county, the authorities may arrest the offender, with or without a warrant, at a place within the county, or at a place within an adjacent county.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-40

Although over a century old, Town of Blacksburg v. Beam contains similar facts but with whisky instead of methamphetamine. 104 S.C. 146, 88 S.E. 441 (1916). In that case, the Supreme Court of South Carolina affirmed the lower court's acquittal on the charge of transporting alcoholic liquors:

Some things are to be more deplored than the unlawful transportation of whisky; one is the loss of liberty. Common as the event may be, it is a serious thing to arrest a citizen, and it is a more serious thing to search his person; and he who accomplishes it, must do so in conformity to the laws of the land. There are two reasons for this; one to avoid bloodshed, and the other to preserve the liberty of the citizen. Obedience to law is the bond of society, and the officers set to enforce the law are not exempt from its mandates.

In the instant case the possession of the liquor was the body of the offense; that fact was proven by a forcible and unlawful search of the defendant's person to secure the veritable key to the offense. It is fundamental that a citizen may not be arrested and have his person searched by force and without process in order to secure testimony against him. The act of 1908 (25 St. at Large, p. 1089) has no application to the case. There was no flight by the defendant, and therefore no pursuit by the officer, and that act gives no power to search the person. It is better that the guilty shall escape, rather than another offense shall be committed in the proof of guilt.

Town of Blacksburg v. Beam, 104 S.C. 146, 88 S.E. 441, 441 (1916)

Much like in the matter at hand, drugs were located following an unlawful search by Cherokee County officers in Spartanburg County. The questioning and search were used to secure evidence against him. There was no flight by Appellant; as the passenger, he was not in control of the car.

After Bounlort was arrested for failure to stop for a blue light, the factual predicate for the exercise of extraterritorial jurisdiction ceased to exist. Perhaps officers could have levied additional charges against Bounlort, since it was his conduct that initiated both the pursuit and stop in Spartanburg County, but the Cherokee County officers were acting outside of their jurisdiction by questioning Appellant. Further, the warrant obtained as a result of the questioning as well as the statement he gave at the detention center are fruit of the poisonous tree and should also be excluded.

“Generally, evidence derived from an illegal search or arrest is deemed fruit of the poisonous tree and is inadmissible.” United States v. Najjar, 300 F.3d 466, 477 (4th Cir.2002) (citing Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 484–85, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963)). “

Painter and Owens exceed their lawful jurisdiction in order to follow a truck whose driver failed to use a turn signal. When he would not pull over, they followed him into a neighboring

county. After he pulled over and they arrested him for failure to stop for blue lights, their extraterritorial jurisdiction ended. The questioning of Appellant, search of his person, interrogation at the detention center, and search of his room at the hotel were all improper and exceeded the bounds of their jurisdiction. The indictments should have been quashed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse his convictions and hold that the indictments should have been quashed.