STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Sep 17 2020

APPEAL FROM CHEROKEE COUNTY

SC Court of Appeals

Court of General Sessions
The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000989

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

GLEN EDWARD WALDROP,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The circuit court has jurisdiction over criminal matters, including drug trafficking cases. Waldrop was indicted by a Cherokee County grand jury for two counts of trafficking methamphetamine for acts alleged to have occurred in Cherokee County. Waldrop moved to quash one of the indictments because he was arrested in Spartanburg County during a traffic stop initiated in Cherokee County. Did the trial court err by not quashing the indictments?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Cherokee County grand jury indicted Appellant Glen Waldrop for two counts of trafficking in methamphetamine. He proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole on June 5–6, 2019. He was convicted and sentenced to concurrent terms of twenty-five years' incarceration. This direct appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 21, 2018, officers with the Cherokee County Sheriff's Office were contacted by officers from the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office in reference to a drug investigation, with information that a suspect vehicle was crossing into Cherokee County from neighboring Spartanburg County. (June 5 Tr.p.34). The Spartanburg officers followed the vehicle as it exited Interstate 85 within Cherokee County and went to a hotel. The Cherokee and Spartanburg officers both parked at a neighboring car dealership to surveil the vehicle. (June 5 Tr.p. 35). Two hours later, the vehicle left the hotel and Cherokee officers attempted to initiate a traffic stop. The vehicle failed to stop, even though officers could see the driver and passenger take notice of the police cars. (June 5 Tr.p. 37). The vehicle continued to ignore the officer's blue lights and continued on the interstate into Spartanburg County. The driver finally pulled over and exited the vehicle. The Cherokee officer took him into custody at that time, while the passenger, Appellant Glen Waldrop, stayed in the vehicle. (June 5 Tr.p.38).

Officers made contact with Waldrop and gave him warnings pursuant to Miranda v. Arizona. When officers asked Waldrop if he had anything illegal in his possession, he gave them two bags of methamphetamine. (June 5 Tr.p.39-40; 53). Both Waldrop and the driver consented to a search of the vehicle, where officers located more than 100 grams of methamphetamine. (June 5 Tr.p.40). Officers obtained a search warrant for Waldrop's hotel room and located more methamphetamine. (June 5 Tr.p.42). Waldrop gave a recorded statement

admitting to possession of the methamphetamine at the hotel, in the car, and on his person. (June 5 Tr.p.46—48). Officers testified the entire exchange was consensual. (June 5 Tr.p.44).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court's factual conclusions as to the sufficiency of an indictment will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 94, 654 S.E.2d 849, 851 (Ct. App. 2007).

ARGUMENT

Waldrop failed to preserve his argument that the trial court erred by failing to quash indictment #0681. Even if preserved, his argument is meritless because the indictments alleged with specificity felony crimes within the subject matter jurisdiction of the court.

Waldrop argues the trial court erred by not quashing the Cherokee County indictments because he was arrested in Spartanburg County. Waldrop's argument relating to indictment 2018-GS-11-00681 is not preserved for review because it was not raised to the trial court. Regardless, Waldrop's argument is meritless because he does not identify any defects in the indictments themselves or allege that the circuit court did not have authority to try a trafficking case. Instead, he complains about the propriety of the traffic stop which led to his arrest. His claim fails because the location of his arrest has nothing to do with the validity of the indictments or the jurisdiction of the court. The Cherokee County Court of General Sessions had jurisdiction because the indictments alleged crimes within its general criminal jurisdiction and occurring in Cherokee County. This Court should affirm.

As an initial matter, Waldrop has failed to preserve for appeal any issues related to drugs found at Waldrop's hotel room. An argument not raised and ruled on by the trial court is not preserved for appeal. State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 120, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997). Waldrop's motion to quash was "based on lack of personal jurisdiction and venue in the case, **at least as to the indictment regarding the stop that took place in Spartanburg County.**" (June 5 Tr.p.96). Waldrop did not allege any defect in the jurisdiction of the court or venue related to

the drugs found at the hotel in Cherokee County. Accordingly, he failed to preserve any objection related to indictment 2018-GS-11-00681. (June 6 Tr.p.37).

In any case, Waldrop's argument is meritless. Subject matter jurisdiction is the power of a court to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong. State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 100, 610 S.E.2d 494, 498 (2005). By contrast, the indictment is a notice document. A motion to quash an indictment tests only the facial validity of the indictment. State v. Massey, 430 S.C. 349, 358, 844 S.E.2d 667, 671 (2020). The circuit court should judge the sufficiency of the indictment by determining whether (1) the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction thereon; and (2) whether it apprises the defendant of the elements of the offense that is intended to be charged. Gentry, 363 S.C. at, 102–03, 610 S.E.2d at 500. **An indictment does not confer jurisdiction.** It merely serves to provide the defendant with notice of the charge against him. Gentry, 363 S.C. at, 101–03, 610 S.E.2d at 499—500.

Even if the Cherokee officers acted outside of their territorial authority to arrest, there is no reason why the Cherokee County Court of General Sessions would not have jurisdiction over felony crimes alleged to have occurred in Cherokee County. "Circuit courts obviously have subject matter jurisdiction to try criminal matters." Gentry, 363 S.C. at 101, 610 S.E.2d at 499. The circuit court "has original jurisdiction in all criminal matters except those where an inferior court is

given exclusive jurisdiction . . . [including] the general class of trafficking charges." State v. Dudley, 364 S.C. 578, 582, 614 S.E.2d 623, 625 (2005). Furthermore, even if venue was improper,¹ this would not affect the subject matter jurisdiction of the circuit court. "Although an accused has a right to be tried in the county in which the offense is alleged to have been committed . . . this right is not jurisdictional." State v. Evans, 307 S.C. 477, 480, 415 S.E.2d 816, 818 (1992).

Even though Waldrop has failed to allege a defect in the indictments themselves, the indictments in this case were valid. They charged with specificity felony crimes alleged to have taken place in Cherokee County on a specific date. They gave Waldrop plentiful notice of the charges against him and met all the requirements of valid indictments.

Waldrop's complaints about the propriety of the traffic stop leading to his arrest have nothing to do with the legality of the indictments, or the jurisdiction of the court. Any defect in the search or arrest would be remedied by suppression of the statements and seized drugs, not by quashing the indictments. See State v. Boswell, 391 S.C. 592, 599, 707 S.E.2d 265, 268 (2011). While Waldrop did move before trial to suppress his roadside statements and the drugs seized during the traffic stop, he did not object when the evidence was offered. He concedes the issue

¹ As the court noted, any drugs present in the vehicle when it was stopped in Spartanburg County must have been present when the vehicle departed from the hotel in Cherokee County. (June 5 Tr.p.96; 106). Accordingly, there was evidence that the crimes occurred in Cherokee County and venue was proper. See State v. Brisbon, 323 S.C. 324, 327, 474 S.E.2d 433, 435 (1996) (explaining "[e]vidence of venue, though slight, is sufficient in the absence of conflicting evidence and may be proved by circumstantial as well as direct evidence").

is unpreserved and has not raised that issue on appeal. Brief of Appellant at 7. His claim that the trial court erred by refusing to quash the indictments is a thinly-veiled attempt to raise the unpreserved suppression issue.² His argument against the validity of the indictments and the jurisdiction of the court has no legal merit, and fails on its face. This Court should affirm.

² In any case, that issue is also meritless. Because Spartanburg officers were present during the stop, see State v. Hammond, 270 S.C. 347, 242 S.E.2d 411 (1978), and because S.C. Code § 17-13-40 authorizes officers to arrest in a neighboring county, there was no jurisdictional issue with Waldrop's arrest. Likewise, not only was there plentiful probable cause to search Waldrop and the vehicle, Waldrop consented to the search. Finally, his statement admitting to possession of the drugs was given voluntarily after Miranda warnings. (June 5 Tr.p.39). In short, the traffic stop was perfectly legal.

CONCLUSION


For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.